Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# ELSEVIER

Thrombosis Research



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/thromres

### **Review Article**

# The mechanism of action of rivaroxaban – an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor – compared with other anticoagulants

## Meyer Michel Samama\*

Hôtel-Dieu University Hospital, Paris, France Biomnis Laboratories R&D, Ivry-sur-Seine, France

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 May 2010 Received in revised form 10 August 2010 Accepted 6 September 2010 Available online 2 October 2010

Keywords: Anticoagulants Direct Factor Xa inhibitors Direct thrombin inhibitors Rivaroxaban

#### ABSTRACT

Although results of some phase III clinical trials of new oral anticoagulants are now known, it is important to understand the mechanisms of their actions. These new agents exert their anticoagulant effect via direct inhibition of a single Factor within the coagulation cascade (such as Factor Xa or thrombin). Rivaroxaban – the first oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor – is a small-molecule oxazolidinone derivative that binds directly and reversibly to Factor Xa via the S1 and S4 pockets. Rivaroxaban competitively inhibits Factor Xa and is more than 10,000-fold more selective for Factor Xa than other related serine proteases, and it does not require cofactors (such as antithrombin) to exert its anticoagulant effect. Unlike indirect Factor Xa inhibitors, rivaroxaban inhibits both free and clot-bound Factor Xa, as well as prothrombinase activity, thereby prolonging clotting times. Dabigatran etexilate is a direct thrombin inhibitor that inhibits both free and fibrin-bound thrombin. Although the mechanism of action differs between the direct Factor Xa and direct thrombin inhibitors, phase III studies of these new agents confirmed that both Factor Xa and thrombin are viable anticoagulation targets.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

Introduction	. 498
The coagulation pathway	. 498
Indirect Factor Xa inhibitor	. 498
Fondaparinux	. 498
Direct Factor Xa inhibitors	. 498
Rivaroxahan	498
Preclinical studies	499
	499
Clinical trials	500
	. 500
	. 500
Edoxaban	. 500
Direct thrombin inhibitor	. 501
Dabigatran etexilate	. 501
Potential advantages of direct Factor Xa inhibition	. 501
Discussion and conclusions	. 501
Conflict of interest statement	. 502
Acknowledgements	. 502
References	. 502

*Abbreviations*: ACS, acute coronary syndrome; aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; AT, antithrombin; AUC, area under the curve; bid, twice daily; C<sub>max</sub>, maximum plasma concentration; CrCl, creatinine clearance; CYP, cytochrome P450; IC<sub>50</sub>, inhibitory concentration 50; INR, international normalized ratio; LMWHs, low molecular weight heparins; od, once daily; PD, pharmacodynamic(s); PK, pharmacokinetic(s); PT, prothrombin time; TF, tissue factor; TFPI, tissue factor pathway inhibitor; TG, thrombin generation; THR, total hip replacement; TKR, total knee replacement; UFH, unfractionated heparin; VKAs, vitamin K antagonists; VTE, venous thromboembolism.

Biomnis Laboratories R&D, 78 avenue de Verdun, BP 110, 94200 Ivry-sur-Seine cedex, France. Tel.: + 33 1 49 59 16 02; fax: + 33 1 49 59 15 29.

E-mail address: meyermichel.samama@biomnis.com.

<sup>0049-3848/\$ –</sup> see front matter 0 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2010.09.008

#### Introduction

Thromboembolic disorders are major causes of morbidity and mortality. Arterial thrombosis is the most common cause of myocardial infarction and ischaemic stroke, whereas deep vein thrombosis can lead to pulmonary embolism [1]. In the USA, pulmonary embolism causes almost 300,000 deaths per annum [2]. It is estimated that 12% of the annual deaths occurring in France, Germany, Italy, Spain, Sweden and the UK are due to venous thromboembolism (VTE), varying from 10% in the UK to 14% in Italy [3].

Great advances have been made in understanding the molecular and cellular basis of thrombus formation in the past few decades, with anticoagulants remaining the cornerstone for the prevention and treatment of thromboembolic disorders [4-6]. Conventional anticoagulant therapies, such as unfractionated heparin (UFH), low molecular weight heparins (LMWHs) and vitamin K antagonists (VKAs), act on multiple factors within the coagulation cascade. The heparins exert their anticoagulant effect by binding to antithrombin (AT) via a pentasaccharide sequence and increasing the ability of AT to inhibit Factor Xa and thrombin and other factors [7]. The anticoagulant effect of the VKAs is achieved by interfering with the cyclic interconversion of vitamin K and its 2,3 epoxide, leading to the hepatic production of partially carboxylated and decarboxylated coagulation factors (VII, IX, X and II) with reduced coagulant activity [8]. Although effective, these traditional agents are associated with several drawbacks, including parenteral route of administration or routine coagulation monitoring and dose adjustments. Recent efforts in finding new approaches to anticoagulation have focused on targeting a single enzyme within the coagulation pathway, such as thrombin and Factor Xa, and inhibition of either of these coagulation enzymes attenuates fibrin formation.

Factor Xa has emerged as a promising target for effective anticoagulation because it is positioned at the convergence point of the intrinsic and extrinsic coagulation pathways. Several new oral agents that specifically target Factor Xa have been developed, and rivaroxaban is one of the agents in late-stage clinical development. This article will give an overview of the oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor rivaroxaban, comparing it with the indirect Factor Xa inhibitor (fondaparinux), other direct Factor Xa inhibitors (apixaban and edoxaban), and the direct thrombin inhibitor dabigatran etexilate. The potential advantages of direct Factor Xa inhibition will also be discussed.

#### The coagulation pathway

Tissue factor (TF) is the sole initiator of thrombin generation (TG) and fibrin formation [9]. Under normal conditions, the endothelium acts as a barrier separating TF from Factor VIIa in flowing blood. However, TF is also present in circulating blood, and this blood-borne TF plays an important role in the initiation of coagulation when vessel injury is limited to endothelial activation [9]. TF binds to circulation Factor VIIa to form the TF-Factor VIIa complex, which activates Factor IX and Factor X (Fig. 1). Tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) is an important physiological inhibitor of Factor Xa at the initial phase of blood coagulation. It binds to Factor Xa and blocks the TF-Factor VIIa-Factor Xa complex [10]. Recent evidence suggests that TFPI also plays a role in the protein S pathway; TG is increased when TFPI is inhibited [11]. It should be noted that TFPI is present in a low concentration (~2.5 nmol/l) in blood [10]. The anticoagulant role of TFPI in combination with that of Factor Xa inhibition requires further attention. Factor Xa converts small amounts of prothrombin to thrombin. Thrombin then amplifies coagulation by activating Factor V and Factor VIII (on the surface of activated platelets), platelets and platelet-bound Factor XI. The coagulation cascade is amplified by further generation of Factor Xa by the Factor IXa-Factor VIIIa-Ca<sup>2+</sup>-phospholipid complex. Factor Xa binds to negatively charged phopholipid surfaces (e.g. activated platelets), together with Factor Va to form the prothrombinase complex the central prothrombin activator, which converts prothrombin to thrombin [12]. Thrombin plays a central role in the clotting process. In addition to converting soluble fibrinogen to fibrin and activating platelets, thrombin also amplifies its own generation by feedback activation of Factor VIII and Factor V, as well as activating Factor XIII, which further stabilizes the clot. The coagulation pathway is regulated by natural anticoagulants, such as the TF pathway inhibitor, AT and the protein C and protein S system [13].

#### **Indirect Factor Xa inhibitor**

#### Fondaparinux

Fondaparinux is a synthetic analogue of the AT-binding pentasaccharide found in UFH or in the LMWHs. Its molecular weight (1728 g/mol) is approximately three times lower than that of LMWHs. It exerts its anticoagulant effects by binding to AT and evoking a conformational change at the reactive site of AT, which enhances its reactivity with Factor Xa [14]. Because it is too short to bridge AT to thrombin, fondaparinux does not increase the rate of thrombin inhibition by AT [15]. Fondaparinux produces a predictable anticoagulant response that precludes the need for routine coagulation monitoring and does not cause heparin-induced thrombocytopenia [15]. Unlike the direct Factor Xa inhibitors or direct thrombin inhibitors, fondaparinux does not prolong prothrombin time (PT) and has a very weak effect on the activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) [16]. However, as with the LMWHs, fondaparinux must be administered subcutaneously (Table 1).

#### **Direct Factor Xa inhibitors**

#### Rivaroxaban

Rivaroxaban is an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. The onset of inhibition of Factor Xa activity with rivaroxaban is rapid and the inhibition is reversible. The values for  $k_{on}$  and  $k_{off}$  are  $1.7 \times 10^7$  M<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and  $5 \times 10^{-3}$  s<sup>-1</sup>, respectively [17]. It is a small molecule (Mr 435.9 g/mol) and it binds directly to the active site of Factor Xa via the S1 and S4 pockets (Fig. 2) [18].

The X-ray crystal structure of rivaroxaban in complex with human Factor Xa clarified the binding mode and the requirements for high



**Fig. 1.** Schematic representation of the coagulation cascade. Tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI) binds to FXa, then the complex TFPI-FXa binds to tissue factor-FVIIa forming an inactive quaternary complex. \*Activated monocytes/macrophages. FV, Factor V; FVa, activated Factor V; FVII, Factor VII; FVIIa, activated Factor VII; FVIII, Factor VIII; FVIIa, activated Factor VI; FX, Factor X; FXa, activated Factor X.

#### Table 1

Comparison of the pharmacological characteristics of rivaroxaban and fondaparinux.

	Rivaroxaban	Fondaparinux
Target	Factor Xa (direct)	Factor Xa (indirect)
Molecular weight	435.9	1728
Cofactor required	No	Antithrombin
Route of administration	Oral	Subcutaneous
Bioavailability	80-100%	~100%
Terminal half-life	7–11 hours	14-20 hours
Renal excretion	One-third unchanged	Unchanged
Inhibition of Factor Xa	Free and clot-associated Factor Xa	Free and clot-associated Factor Xa
Inhibition of prothrombinase activity	Yes (IC <sub>50</sub> 2.1 nM)	No effect
Clotting times	Prolongation of PT, aPTT, HepTest and dilute Russell's viper venom time	Prolongation of HepTest

aPTT, activated partial thromboplastin time; IC<sub>50</sub>, inhibitory concentration 50; PT, prothrombin time.

affinity observed within the oxazolidinone series. Supported by these two bonds, the (S)-oxazolidinone ring provides the L-shape needed for Factor Xa binding, directing the morpholinone residue into the S4 pocket and the chlorothiophene moiety into the S1 pocket. The key interaction of rivaroxaban with Factor Xa in the S1 pocket involves the chlorothiophene moiety - the chlorine substituent interacts with the aromatic ring of Tyr228 located at the bottom of the S1 pocket. This chlorine-Tyr228 interaction obviates the need for strongly basic groups to achieve high affinity for Factor Xa, thus enabling non-basic rivaroxaban to achieve both high potency and sufficient oral bioavailability [18]. Because rivaroxaban is non-basic and more lipophilic than inhibitors with highly basic residues, it has a greater ability to pass through the lipophilic epithelia of the gastrointestinal tract. In addition, this chlorine-Tyr228 interaction contributes to the high potency in a number of ways. The primary reason is that the formation of this chlorine-Tyr228 interaction displaces a water molecule in the binding pocket. This contributes enthalpically and entropically to ligand binding, giving a high affinity [18,19].

#### Preclinical studies

In vitro kinetic analysis in the absence of AT indicated that rivaroxaban is a selective, reversible, direct Factor Xa inhibitor that does not require cofactors for its anticoagulant effect [20]. Rivaroxaban inhibits Factor Xa activity with a low K<sub>i</sub> value (0.4 nM) [20,21]. In humans, the mean minimum plasma concentration (C<sub>trough</sub>) of rivaroxaban was 9.1 ng/ml after a 10 mg dose [22], giving a free plasma concentration range of 0.45–0.73 ng/ml (taking into account the plasma



**Fig. 2.** X-ray crystal structure of rivaroxaban (orange carbons) in complex with human Factor Xa [18]. Essential amino acids and binding pockets are indicated; the two hydrogen bonds between rivaroxaban and Gly219 are shown as dotted lines.

protein binding), which is approximately threefold higher than the  $K_i$  (0.174 ng/ml). In a phase I study, it was shown that the TF-induced TG was slightly inhibited even after 24 hours of rivaroxaban administration [23], demonstrating that free plasma levels at around Ki value are sufficient to inhibit TG. Rivaroxaban also inhibits clot-bound Factor Xa (inhibitory concentration 50 [IC<sub>50</sub>] 75 nM) [24] and prothrombinase activity (IC<sub>50</sub> 2.1 nM) [20]. Rivaroxaban is more than 10,000-fold more selective for Factor Xa than for other related serine proteases – it does not inhibit related serine proteases at concentrations up to 20  $\mu$ M [20].

In human plasma, rivaroxaban concentration-dependently inhibited TG [25,26] and, thus, the amplification processes of coagulation, through inhibition of Factor Xa. TG was almost completely inhibited at therapeutically relevant concentrations (80–100 nM) of rivaroxaban. *In vitro* studies demonstrated that rivaroxaban prolonged the initiation phase of TG, inhibited the physiologically relevant prothrombinase complex-bound Factor Xa on the surface of activated platelets and reduced the thrombin burst produced in the propagation phase [26,27]. In addition, a recent study on whole blood clot structure showed that rivaroxaban, by decreasing TG, increased clot permeability and degradability, which may also contribute to its antithrombotic effect [28].

When given prophylactically, rivaroxaban had consistent antithrombotic effects in venous [20,29,30] and arterial thrombosis models in mice, rats and rabbits [20,30,31]. In a rabbit treatment model, rivaroxaban reduced the growth of venous thrombi when given after thrombus formation – it reduced the growth of pre-formed thrombi to a similar extend as the LMWH nadroparin and the indirect Factor Xa inhibitor fondaparinux [29]. Bleeding times were not significantly increased at antithrombotic doses in these models [20]. Furthermore, rivaroxaban dose-dependently prevented thromboembolic death induced by TF in a mouse model, whereas fondaparinux was less effective compared with rivaroxaban [32].

#### Clinical pharmacology

Rivaroxaban is rapidly absorbed, with maximum concentrations appearing 2–4 hours after oral administration [33,34]. It has a high (80–100%) oral bioavailability after a 10 mg dose – the dose that was selected for the phase III studies for the prevention of VTE after elective total hip or total knee replacement (THR/TKR) surgery [35]. No relevant accumulation was observed at any dose after multiple dosing in healthy subjects beyond steady state [34]. The elimination of rivaroxaban from plasma occurs with a mean terminal half-life of 7–11 hours [35]. Low intra-individual variability and moderate interindividual variability have been observed [36].

Rivaroxaban has been shown to have predictable pharmacodynamics (PD) in healthy subjects [36] and in patients undergoing major orthopaedic surgery [37]. In a randomized, placebo-controlled, singledose escalation study (1.25–80 mg) in healthy males, its PD effects (inhibition of Factor Xa activity, prolongation of PT, aPTT and HepTest) were dose dependent. Maximum inhibition of Factor Xa activity was achieved 1–4 hours after administration, with PT prolongation following a similar profile. Rivaroxaban has no effect on ecarin-induced thrombin activity or AT activity in healthy subjects, demonstrating that rivaroxaban selectively inhibits Factor Xa activity [33].

In a randomized, placebo-controlled, multiple-dosing study in healthy males, rivaroxaban was administered on days 0 and 3–7. Dosing regimens were 5 mg once, twice or three-times daily, and 10 mg, 20 mg or 30 mg bid. Factor Xa activity was dose-dependently inhibited and maintained for approximately 12 hours after dosing [34]. After twice-daily dosing, median PT, aPTT and HepTest were dose-dependently prolonged and reached maximum prolongations 1–4 hours after the administration of rivaroxaban. Maximum inhibition of Factor Xa activity and prolongation of PT on day 7 were similar to those measured after the first dose on day 0. Trough values for PT and aPTT after the administration of rivaroxaban 10 mg, 20 mg and 30 mg twice daily (bid) on day 7 were still elevated after 12 hours compared with baseline [34].

Because unchanged rivaroxaban (approximately one-third) is excreted renally, decreased renal function led to increases in rivaroxaban plasma concentrations: the area under the curve (AUC) for plasma concentration increased by 44% with mild impairment (creatinine clearance [CrCl] 50–79 ml/min); 52% with moderate impairment (CrCl 30–49 ml/min) and 64% with severe impairment (CrCl <30 ml/min), compared with healthy subjects [35,38]. In healthy elderly subjects, the PD effects of rivaroxaban showed a similar pattern, with maximum inhibition of Factor Xa activity increasing from 68% after a 30 mg dose to 75% after 40 mg and no further increase with a 50 mg dose [39].

Numerous phase I interaction studies demonstrated that rivaroxaban had a low propensity for clinically relevant food–drug and drug–drug interactions. Food prolonged the time to maximum concentration, but maximum plasma concentration ( $C_{max}$ ) and AUC were increased, with reduced interindividual variability at higher doses of rivaroxaban. However, the terminal half-life remained unchanged [40]. The coadministration of rivaroxaban with acetylsalicylic acid, naproxen or clopidogrel had no significant influence on the inhibition of Factor Xa activity and the prolongation of PT, aPTT and HepTest, compared with rivaroxaban alone. In addition, rivaroxaban did not affect the inhibition of platelet aggregation associated with these agents [41–43]. No interactions were observed when rivaroxaban was co-administered with digoxin or atorvastatin [44,45].

Rivaroxaban was shown to have no effect on the corrected OT interval [46]. In vitro studies showed that rivaroxaban did not induce or inhibit cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes [47]. It had low affinity for CYP3A4 and moderate susceptibility for drug-drug interactions only with strong CYP3A4 inhibitors. However, rivaroxaban is not recommended in patients receiving concomitant systemic treatment with strong inhibitors of CYP3A4 and P-glycoprotein – azole-antimycotics (e.g. ketoconazole) or HIV protease inhibitors (e.g. ritonavir) - because they may increase rivaroxaban plasma concentrations to a clinically relevant degree. The co-administration of rivaroxaban with the strong CYP3A4 inducer rifampicin led to an approximate 50% decrease in mean rivaroxaban AUC, with parallel decreases in its PD effects. The concomitant use with other strong CYP3A4 inducers (e.g. phenytoin or St John's wort) may also lead to reduced rivaroxaban plasma concentrations, thus strong CYP3A4 inducers should be co-administered with caution [35].

#### Clinical trials

The efficacy and safety of rivaroxaban (10 mg once daily [od]) for the prevention of VTE were investigated in four large-scale, phase III studies in patients undergoing THR or TKR surgery [48–51]. In all these studies, rivaroxaban was more effective than the LMWH enoxaparin in the prevention of VTE without a significant increase in bleeding events. A pooled analysis of these four studies showed that rivaroxaban significantly reduced the incidence of symptomatic VTE and death compared with enoxaparin regimens, without a significant increase in major bleeding events [52].

There have been some debates regarding the different definitions of major bleeding events used in phase III trials for the prevention of VTE. The exclusion of surgical-site bleeding from the major bleeding definition in the RECORD studies has caused some concerns. However, when surgical-site bleeding events were included in the analysis of major bleeding rates, the rivaroxaban regimens showed a rate that was comparable with that of the enoxaparin regimens [53].

Trials are being conducted for several other indications including the treatment of VTE, stroke prevention in patients with atrial fibrillation and secondary prevention after acute coronary syndrome (ACS). The results of the ATLAS ACS TIMI 46 phase II dose-escalation study in patients stabilized after an ACS indicate that the use of an oral Factor Xa inhibitor (in combination with antiplatelet therapy) increases bleeding in a dose-dependent manner and may reduce the risk of important clinical events (death, myocardial infarction or stroke) [54]. Based on the outcomes of this study, lower doses of rivaroxaban (2.5 mg and 5 mg bid) have been selected for further assessment in a large, phase III study (ATLAS ACS TIMI 51) of high-risk ACS patients.

#### Apixaban

Apixaban is a small-molecule, direct Factor Xa inhibitor that selectively and reversibly inhibits both free Factor Xa and prothrombinase activity [55,56]. Apixaban rapidly reacts with Factor Xa  $(K_{on} 2 \times 10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1})$ , and binds with high affinity  $(K_i 0.3 \text{ nM at})$ 37 °C) [57]. It has high oral bioavailability in chimpanzees and dogs [58] and has a half-life of 8-15 hours [59]. Phase III studies for the prevention of VTE in patients undergoing TKR surgery showed that apixaban did not meet non-inferiority to enoxaparin 30 mg bid (ADVANCE-1) [60] but was more effective than enoxaparin 40 mg od in the prevention of VTE (ADVANCE-2) [61]. Investigations are ongoing in a number of other indications including the treatment of VTE, stroke prevention in patients with atrial fibrillation and secondary prevention after ACS. A phase II, dose-ranging study of apixaban showed a dose-related increase in bleeding and a trend towards a reduction in ischaemic events with the addition of apixaban to antiplatelet therapy in patients with recent ACS [62].

#### Edoxaban

Edoxaban (DU-176b) is an oral, direct and specific Factor Xa inhibitor (K<sub>i</sub> 0.56 nM) with a >10,000-fold selectivity for Factor Xa compared with thrombin [63]. Peak plasma levels of edoxaban were observed at 1.5 hours after a single oral dose, corresponding to the maximum inhibition of Factor Xa activity; in an *ex vivo* experimental model, the antithrombotic effects were sustained for up to 5 hours [64,65]. In general, plasma edoxaban concentrations are linearly correlated with coagulation parameters [66].

Phase II studies for the prevention of VTE in patients undergoing TKR and THR showed promising results [67,68]. Edoxaban has also been assessed in a phase II study for the prevention of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation; it was shown that edoxaban (30 and 60 mg od) had a safety profile similar to warfarin [69]. A phase III study is currently ongoing comparing edoxaban with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation.

Several other oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitors, such as betrixaban [70] and YM150 [71], have been investigated in phase II studies in patients undergoing THR or TKR surgery, and results from these studies provided proof of principle for their safety and tolerability.

Vitamin K or protamine is used as an antidote in patients treated with warfarin or heparin, respectively. Specific antidotes are not currently available to reverse the anticoagulant effects of the new oral anticoagulants, although encouraging preclinical results have been obtained with Factor VIIa and activated prothrombin complex concentrate for the potential management of severe bleeding with direct Factor Xa or thrombin inhibitors [72,73], but the clinical utility of these agents is yet to be established. It has been reported recently that plasmaderived or recombinant Factor Xa, modified to lack catalytic and membrane-binding activities, could neutralize the anticoagulant activities of Factor Xa inhibitors and LMWH, demonstrating the potential of Factor Xa to act as a universal antidote for the reversal of anticoagulation of all current direct and indirect Factor Xa inhibitors, in patients with bleeding-related medical emergencies or those requiring the immediate cessation of anticoagulation prior to surgery [74].

#### Direct thrombin inhibitor

#### Dabigatran etexilate

Dabigatran is an oral, reversible, direct thrombin inhibitor [75]. The active site of thrombin is composed of the specificity (S1), proximal (S2) and distal pockets. The S1 pocket contains Asp189 at the bottom, which provides specificity for a basic arginine residue at the P1-position of substrates. Dabigatran effectively inhibits thrombin by an ionic interaction between its basic functional group and Asp189 in the S1 pocket [76].

The prodrug dabigatran etexilate has an oral bioavailability of approximately 6% [77]. It is converted by esterases into its active metabolite dabigatran once absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract [78]. Stangier et al. found that peak plasma concentrations of dabigatran were reached within 2 hours of administration, with an estimated halflife of 14–17 hours with multiple dosing (50–400 mg three-times daily) [77]. Dabigatran exhibited linear pharmacokinetic (PK) characteristics, with dose-proportional increases observed in C<sub>max</sub> and AUC [77,79]. In healthy men, dabigatran dose-dependently increased thrombin time, ecarin clotting time, international normalized ratio (INR) and aPTT [77]. There was a close correlation between prolongation of blood coagulation assays and dabigatran plasma concentrations. Routine coagulation monitoring is not required due to its predictable PK and PD. Dabigatran is predominantly excreted via the kidneys, is not metabolized by the CYP system and has no in vitro effects on human CYP enzymes. Drug-drug interactions were not observed with concomitant administration of atorvastatin, diclofenac or digoxin [80]. Co-administration of dabigatran with pantoprazole and other proton-pump inhibitors had no effect on bleeding or efficacy. However, the P-glycoprotein inhibitor quinidine is contraindicated, and the daily dose of dabigatran etexilate should be reduced from 220 mg to 150 mg in patients receiving amiodarone concomitantly [81].

Dabigatran etexilate was investigated in three phase III trials for the prevention of VTE in patients undergoing hip or knee replacement surgery. The results showed that it was non-inferior to enoxaparin 40 mg od [82,83], but failed to meet non-inferiority to enoxaparin 30 mg bid [84]. Trials are being conducted for other indications including the treatment of VTE and secondary prevention after ACS. The results of the RE-LY trial in patients with atrial fibrillation showed that dabigatran etexilate 110 mg bid was non-inferior, whereas 150 mg bid was superior to warfarin for the prevention of stroke and systemic embolism, with a significantly lower rate of major bleeding in the 110 mg dose group. The incidence of gastrointestinal adverse events was higher in both the dabigatran etexilate dose groups, which contributed to significantly higher rates of treatment discontinuation [85]. In the recently completed RECOVER trial, dabigatran was shown to be as effective as warfarin for the treatment of acute VTE with a similar safety profile [86].

#### Potential advantages of direct Factor Xa inhibition

Factor Xa is the first factor activated after the activation of TF, and one molecule of Factor Xa catalyzes the formation of approximately 1000 thrombin molecules. In addition, the formation of the prothrombinase complex, which is vastly more efficient than free Factor Xa (approximately 300,000-fold) at cleaving prothrombin to form thrombin, is ultimately limited by the concentration of Factor Xa [10]. Thus, inhibition of TG will ultimately prevent thrombin-induced positive feedback via the activation of Factors Va and VIIIa (key components of the prothrombinase complex and the tenase complex, respectively).

A major difference between the direct and indirect Factor Xa inhibitors is that AT-dependent, indirect Factor Xa inhibitors (such as UFH, LMWH and fondaparinux) are unable to inhibit Factor Xa within the prothrombinase complex [87,88]. A recent study using computational model systems suggested that rivaroxaban would be more effective in the suppression of an ongoing coagulation process than the AT-dependent, indirect Factor Xa inhibitor fondaparinux, reflecting its higher reactivity towards the prothrombinase complex [89]. Direct Factor Xa inhibitors are able to inhibit free, prothrombinase-bound and clot-associated Factor Xa [20,24,90]. Clot-associated Factor Xa has been shown to be enzymatically active in vitro and able to activate prothrombin to thrombin [91,92]. Factor Xa has also been shown to be an important contributor of clot-associated procoagulant activity in vitro [93]. Thus, direct inhibition of clot-associated Factor Xa could be an effective and localized approach to the prevention of thrombus growth. In addition, it has been demonstrated recently that rivaroxaban concentration-dependently inhibited the procoagulant activity of activated monocytes and macrophages, whereas the indirect Factor Xa inhibitor fondaparinux was without this effect [94]. This property is thought to be attributed to the ability of rivaroxaban to inhibit Factor Xa bound to monocytes. By contrast, the secretion of inflammatory chemokines by activated monocytes and macrophages was inhibited by both rivaroxaban and fondaparinux, suggesting that this effect may be due to the decrease in TG in plasma, which affects the proteaseactivated receptor-1 signalling system [94].

Inhibition of Factor Xa prevents TG, resulting in sustained attenuation of thrombus-associated procoagulant activity, but at the same time it may allow the functions of existing thrombin to continue. However, direct thrombin inhibition is also believed to be a logical choice of anticoagulant target due to its multiple roles in the regulation of coagulation [95]. Indeed, recent clinical studies have provided further evidence that both Factor Xa and thrombin are viable targets for anticoagulant therapy. Although the mechanisms of action are different, both direct Factor Xa inhibition and direct thrombin inhibition could provide effective and safe anticoagulation [95,96]. However, no data is available at present for a direct comparison of these two classes, and their efficacy might be different when used in different indications.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Clot formation is a fast process, taking less than 5 minutes from activation to thrombus formation [97]. Therefore, for a direct anticoagulant to function effectively, it should exert a rapid effect. Moreover, directly targeting a critical point in the coagulation cascade could result in more predictable anticoagulation, via a reliable and well-understood pathway [96].

Factor Xa, positioned early in the coagulation cascade, is the first factor to be activated after TF activation. The oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor rivaroxaban has demonstrated a good efficacy/risk profile. Its mode of action may explain the efficacy and safety profiles reported in the four phase III studies that constituted the RECORD programme.

There has been poor compliance to guideline recommendations for thromboprophylaxis, particularly in patients undergoing THR or TKR surgery [98], partly due to the limitations of conventional anticoagulants (such as parenteral administration or the need for frequent coagulation monitoring). The convenient, oral, fixed-dose mode of administration without the need for routine coagulation monitoring could potentially improve guideline adherence and thus overall clinical outcomes. Similarly, clinical studies with dabigatran etexilate have provided further evidence that thrombin is also a viable anticoagulant target, with advantages over conventional therapy.

Both rivaroxaban and dabigatran etexilate have been approved in some countries for VTE prophylaxis in patients undergoing THR or TKR surgery, with fixed dose regimens (i.e. 10 mg od for rivaroxaban; 220 mg or 150 mg od for dabigatran) in the majority of patients without the need for routine coagulation monitoring. However, while the new agents can be used in the majority of patients without routine coagulation monitoring, recent consensus suggests that measuring the concentrations of the drug or its activity might be useful in certain patients, such as those with impaired renal and/or hepatic function, advanced age, suspected overdose and extreme body weights, or in those that require urgent surgery (to ensure that their anticoagulant effect or plasma concentrations are below a clinically significant level) [99,100]. Accumulating evidence suggests that the commonly used global clotting assays are not appropriate for measuring the new oral anticoagulants [101,102]. For rivaroxaban, if the PT assay is used, the results need to be expressed as rivaroxaban plasma concentrations (ng/ml) using rivaroxaban calibrators [103], and the INR should not be used. However, the PT assay is not specific for Factor Xa, and lacks sensitivity at low rivaroxaban concentrations. By contrast, Factor Xa activity assays are specific and may be useful for measuring rivaroxaban plasma concentrations [103-105]. The utility of these assays is currently under evaluation.

In summary, targeting a single Factor within the coagulation cascade (such as Factor Xa or thrombin) could provide effective and safe anticoagulation. The development of these new oral agents represents a major advance in anticoagulant therapy. The results of further studies of the long-term use of new oral anticoagulants are eagerly awaited. Patients may soon be able to experience convenient, oral anticoagulation without the need for frequent coagulation monitoring for both short- and long-term anticoagulation therapy.

#### **Conflict of interest statement**

MM Samama has acted as a consultant for Bayer Schering Phama AG and has not received any honoraria for this work.

#### Acknowledgements

The author would like to acknowledge Yong-Ling Liu who provided editorial support with funding from Bayer Schering Pharma AG and Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical Research & Development, L.L.C. The author also thanks Dr Elisabeth Perzborn and Dr Susanne Roehrig (Bayer Schering Pharma AG) for their helpful discussions during the development of this manuscript. The author had full control of the content in the development of this manuscript.

#### References

- Mackman N. Triggers, targets and treatments for thrombosis. Nature 2008;451: 914–8.
- [2] Heit JA, Cohen AT, Anderson FA, on behalf of the VTE Impact Assessment Group. Estimated annual number of incident and recurrent, non-fatal and fatal venous thromboembolism (VTE) events in the US. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2005;106:910.
- [3] Cohen AT, Agnelli G, Anderson FA, Arcelus JI, Bergqvist D, Brecht JG, et al. Venous thromboembolism (VTE) in Europe. The number of VTE events and associated morbidity and mortality. Thromb Haemost 2007;98:756–64.
- [4] Kearon C, Kahn SR, Agnelli G, Goldhaber S, Raskob GE, Comerota AJ, et al. Antithrombotic therapy for venous thromboembolic disease: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008;133:454S-545S.
- [5] Geerts WH, Bergqvist D, Pineo GF, Heit JA, Samama CM, Lassen MR, et al. Prevention of venous thromboembolism: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008;133:381S–453S.
- [6] Gross PL, Weitz JI. New anticoagulants for treatment of venous thromboembolism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2008;28:380–6.

- [7] Hirsh J, Warkentin TE, Raschke R, Granger C, Ohman EM, Dalen JE. Heparin and low-molecular-weight heparin: mechanisms of action, pharmacokinetics, dosing considerations, monitoring, efficacy, and safety. Chest 1998;114:489S–510S.
- [8] Ansell J, Hirsh J, Hylek E, Jacobson A, Crowther M, Palareti G, et al. Pharmacology and management of the vitamin K antagonists: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008;133:160S–98S.
- [9] Furie B, Furie BC. Mechanisms of thrombus formation. N Engl J Med 2008;359: 938–49.
- [10] Mann KG, Butenas S, Brummel K. The dynamics of thrombin formation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003;23:17–25.
- [11] Maurissen LF, Castoldi E, Simioni P, Rosing J, Hackeng TM. Thrombin generationbased assays to measure the activity of the TFPI-protein S pathway in plasma from normal and protein S-deficient individuals. J Thromb Haemost 2010;8:750–8.
- Weitz JI, Bates SM. New anticoagulants. J Thromb Haemost 2005;3:1843–53.
  Di Nisio M, Middeldorp S, Büller HR. Direct thrombin inhibitors. N Engl J Med 2005:353:1028–40.
- [14] Weitz JI. Emerging anticoagulants for the treatment of venous thromboenbolism. Thromb Haemost 2006:96:274–84.
- [15] Hirsh J, Bauer KA, Donati MB, Gould M, Samama MM, Weitz JI, et al. Parenteral anticoagulants: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008;133:141S–59S.
- [16] Walenga JM, Jeske WP, Samama MM, Frapaise FX, Bick RL, Fareed J. Fondaparinux: a synthetic heparin pentasaccharide as a new antithrombotic agent. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2002;11:397–407.
- [17] Tersteegen A, Schmidt S, Burkhardt N. Rivaroxaban an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor – binds rapidly to Factor Xa. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(Suppl 2):P-W-651.
- [18] Roehrig S, Straub A, Pohlmann J, Lampe T, Pernerstorfer J, Schlemmer KH, et al. Discovery of the novel antithrombotic agent 5-chloro-N-([(5S)-2-oxo-3-[4-(3-oxomorpholin-4-yl)phenyl]-1, 3-oxazolidin-5-yl]methyl)thiophene-2-carboxamide (BAY 59–7939): an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. J Med Chem 2005;48:5900–8.
- [19] Straub A, Roehrig S, Hillisch A. Entering the era of non-basic P1 site groups: Discovery of Xarelto (Rivaroxaban). Curr Top Med Chem 2010;10:257–69.
- [20] Perzborn E, Strassburger J, Wilmen A, Pohlmann J, Roehrig S, Schlemmer KH, et al. In vitro and in vivo studies of the novel antithrombotic agent BAY 59-7939 - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. J Thromb Haemost 2005;3:514–21.
- [21] Duggan ST, Scott LJ, Plosker GL. Rivaroxaban: a review of its use for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after total hip or knee replacement surgery. Drugs 2009;69:1829–51.
- [22] Mueck W, Borris LC, Dahl OE, Haas S, Huisman MV, Kakkar AK, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of once- and twice-daily rivaroxaban for the prevention of venous thromboembolism in patients undergoing total hip replacement. Thromb Haemost 2008;100:453–61.
- [23] Graff J, von Hentig N, Misselwitz F, Kubitza D, Becka M, Breddin HK, et al. Effects of the oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor rivaroxaban on platelet-induced thrombin generation and prothrombinase activity. J Clin Pharmacol 2007;47:1398–407.
- [24] Depasse F, Busson J, Mnich J, Le Flem L, Gerotziafas GT, Samama MM. Effect of BAY 59-7939 - a novel, oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor - on clot-bound Factor Xa activity in vitro. J Thromb Haemost 2005;3(Suppl 1):P1104.
- [25] Fareed J, Hoppensteadt D, Maddenini J, Schultz J, Neville B, Iqbal O, et al. Antithrombotic mechanism of action of BAY 59-7939 - a novel, oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. J Thromb Haemost 2005;3(Suppl 1):P0518.
- [26] Gerotziafas GT, Elalamy I, Depasse F, Perzborn E, Samama MM. In vitro inhibition of thrombin generation, after tissue factor pathway activation, by the oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor rivaroxaban. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5:886–8.
- [27] Perzborn E, Harwardt M, Huetter J. Inhibition of thrombin generation by rivaroxaban (BAY 59-7939) - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor-in human plasma. Hamostaseologie 2007;27:A47.
- [28] Varin R, Mirshahi S, Mirshahi P, Chidiac J, Kierzek G, Marie JP, et al. Effect of rivaroxaban, an oral direct Factor Xa inhibitor, on whole blood clot permeation and thrombolysis: critical role of red blood cells. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2009;114:1064.
- [29] Biemond BJ, Perzborn E, Friederich PW, Levi M, Buetehorn U, Büller HR. Prevention and treatment of experimental thrombosis in rabbits with rivaroxaban (BAY 59-7939) - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. Thromb Haemost 2007;97:471–7.
- [30] Perzborn E, Arndt B, Fischer E, Harwardt M, Lange U, Trabandt A. Antithrombotic effects of rivaroxaban – an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor – in animal models of arterial and venous thrombosis: comparison with enoxaparin, an antithrombindependent anticoagulant. Eur Heart J 2006;27(Suppl):762:P4571.
- [31] Haertlein B, Parry TJ, Chen C, Perzborn E, Andrade-Gordon P, Damiano BP. Rivaroxaban - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor - prevents arterial thrombotic occlusion in electrolytically injured rat carotid arteries. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2007;110:3.
- [32] Perzborn E, Arndt B, Harwardt M, Lange U, Fischer E, Trabant A. Antithrombotic efficacy of BAY 59-7939 – an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor – compared with fondaparinux in animal arterial thrombosis and thromboembolic death models. Eur Heart J 2005;26(Suppl):481:P2943.
- [33] Kubitza D, Becka M, Voith B, Zuehlsdorf M, Wensing G. Safety, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacokinetics of single doses of BAY 59-7939, an oral, direct factor Xa inhibitor. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2005;78:412–21.
- [34] Kubitza D, Becka M, Wensing G, Voith B, Zuehlsdorf M. Safety, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacokinetics of BAY 59-7939 - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor - after multiple dosing in healthy male subjects. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2005;61:873–80.

- [35] Bayer Schering Pharma. Xarelto<sup>®</sup> Summary of Product Characteristics. Available at: http://www.xarelto.com/html/downloads/Xarelto\_Summary\_of\_Product\_Characteristics\_May2009.pdf. 2009.
- [36] Mueck W, Becka M, Kubitza D, Voith B, Zuehlsdorf M. Population model of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of rivaroxaban - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor - in healthy subjects. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 2007;45:335–44.
- [37] Mueck W, Eriksson BI, Bauer KA, Borris L, Dahl OE, Fisher WD, et al. Population pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of rivaroxaban - an oral, direct factor Xa inhibitor - in patients undergoing major orthopaedic surgery. Clin Pharmacokinet 2008;47:203–16.
- [38] Halabi A, Maatouk H, Klause N, Lufft V, Kubitza D, Zuehlsdorf M, et al. Effect of renal impairment on the pharmacology of rivaroxaban (BAY 59-7939) – an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2006;108:913.
- [39] Kubitza D, Becka M, Roth A, Mueck W. Dose-escalation study of the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of rivaroxaban in healthy elderly subjects. Curr Med Res Opin 2008;24:2757–65.
- [40] Kubitza D, Becka M, Zuehlsdorf M, Mueck W. Effect of food, an antacid, and the H2 antagonist ranitidine on the absorption of BAY 59-7939 (rivaroxaban), an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor, in healthy subjects. J Clin Pharmacol 2006;46: 549–58.
- [41] Kubitza D, Becka M, Mueck W, Zuehlsdorf M. Safety, tolerability, pharmacodynamics, and pharmacokinetics of rivaroxaban - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor are not affected by aspirin. J Clin Pharmacol 2006;46:981–90.
- [42] Kubitza D, Becka M, Mueck W, Zuehlsdorf M. Rivaroxaban (BAY 59-7939) an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor - has no clinically relevant interaction with naproxen. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2007;63:469–76.
- [43] Kubitza D, Becka M, Mueck W, Zuehlsdorf M. Co-administration of rivaroxaban a novel, oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor - and clopidogrel in healthy subjects. Eur Heart J 2007;28(Suppl 1):189:P1272.
- [44] Kubitza D, Becka M, Zuehlsdorf M, Mueck W. No interaction between the novel, oral direct Factor Xa inhibitor BAY 59-7939 and digoxin. J Clin Pharmacol 2006;46:702:11.
- [45] Kubitza D, Mueck W, Becka M. No interaction between rivaroxaban a novel, oral, direct factor Xa inhibitor - and atorvastatin. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 2008;36:A40.
- [46] Kubitza D, Mueck W, Becka M. Randomized, double-blind, crossover study to investigate the effect of rivaroxaban on QT-interval prolongation. Drug Saf 2008;31:67–77.
- [47] Weinz C, Radtke M, Schmeer K, Kern A, Pleiss U. In vitro metabolism of BAY 59-7939 - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. Drug Metab Rev 2004;36(Suppl 1):195.
- [48] Eriksson BI, Borris LC, Friedman RJ, Haas S, Huisman MV, Kakkar AK, et al. Rivaroxaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after hip arthroplasty. N Engl J Med 2008;358:2765–75.
- [49] Kakkar AK, Brenner B, Dahl OE, Eriksson BI, Mouret P, Muntz J, et al. Extended duration rivaroxaban versus short-term enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after total hip arthroplasty: a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2008;372:31–9.
- [50] Lassen MR, Ageno W, Borris LC, Lieberman JR, Rosencher N, Bandel TJ, et al. Rivaroxaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after total knee arthroplasty. N Engl J Med 2008;358:2776–86.
- [51] Turpie AGG, Lassen MR, Davidson BL, Bauer KA, Gent M, Kwong LM, et al. Rivaroxaban versus enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after total knee arthroplasty (RECORD4): a randomised trial. Lancet 2009;373:1673–80.
- [52] Turpie AGG, Lassen MR, Kakkar AK, Eriksson BI, Misselwitz F, Bandel TJ, et al. A pooled analysis of four pivotal studies of rivaroxaban for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after orthopaedic surgery: effect on symptomatic venous thromboembolism and death, and bleeding. Haematologica 2009;94 (Suppl 2):212:0522.
- [53] Hull R, Yusen RD, Bergqvist D. Variation in major bleeding definitions in phase III orthopedic VTE prophylaxis trials and the impact on major bleeding frequency. J Thromb Haemost 2009;7:171.
- [54] Mega JL, Braunwald E, Mohanavelu S, Burton P, Poulter R, Misselwitz F, et al. Rivaroxaban versus placebo in patients with acute coronary syndromes (ATLAS ACS-TIMI 46): a randomised, double-blind, phase II trial. Lancet 2009;374:29–38.
- [55] Luettgen JM, Bozarth TA, Bozarth JM, Barbera FA, Lam PY, Quan ML, et al. In vitro evaluation of apixaban, a novel, potent, selective and orally bioavailable Factor Xa inhibitor. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2006;108:4130.
- [56] Pinto DJ, Orwat MJ, Koch S, Rossi KA, Alexander RS, Smallwood A, et al. Discovery of 1-(4-Methoxyphenyl)-7-oxo-6-(4-(2-oxopiperidin-1-yl)phenyl)-4, 5, 6, 7-tetrahydro-1H-pyrazolo[3, 4-c]pyridine-3-carboxamide (Apixaban, BMS-562247), a highly potent, selective, efficacious, and orally bioavailable inhibitor of blood coagulation Factor Xa. J Med Chem 2007;50:5339–56.
- [57] Luettgen JM, Wang Z, Seiffert DA, Rendina AR, Knabb RM, Ogletree ML. Inhibition of measured thrombin generation in human plasma by apixaban: a predictive mathematical model based on experimentally determined rate constants. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(Suppl 1):P-T-633.
- [58] He K, He B, Grace JE, Xin B, Zhang D, Pinto DJ, et al. Preclinical pharmacokinetic and metabolism of apixaban, a potent and selective Factor Xa inhibitor. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2006;108:910.
- [59] Frost C, Yu Z, Moore K, Nepal S, Barrett R, Mosqueda-Garcia R, et al. Apixaban, an oral direct factor Xa inhibitor: multiple-dose safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics in healthy subjects. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(Suppl 2):P-M-664.
- [60] Lassen MR, Gallus AS, Pineo GF, Raskob GE, ADVANCE-1 Investigators. Randomized double-blind comparison of apixaban with enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after knee replacement: the ADVANCE-1 trial. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2008;112:31.

- [61] Lassen MR, Gallus AS, Pineo GF, Raskob GE. The ADVANCE-2 study: a randomized double-blind trial comparing apixaban with enoxaparin for thromboprophylaxis after total knee replacement. | Thromb Haemost 2009;7(Suppl 2):1203–4:LB-MO-005.
- [62] Alexander JH, Becker RC, Bhatt DL, Cools F, Crea F, Dellborg M, et al. Apixaban, an oral, direct, selective factor Xa inhibitor, in combination with antiplatelet therapy after acute coronary syndrome: results of the Apixaban for Prevention of Acute Ischemic and Safety Events (APPRAISE) trial. Circulation 2009;119:2877–85.
- [63] Morishima Y, Furugohri T, Isobe K, Honda Y, Matsumoto C, Shiozaki Y, et al. In vitro characteristics, anticoagulant effects and in vivo antithrombotic efficacy of a novel, potent and orally active direct factor Xa inhibitor, DU-176b. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2004;104:1862.
- [64] Zafar MU, Vorchheimer DA, Gaztanaga J, Velez M, Yadegar D, Moreno PR, et al. Antithrombotic effects of factor Xa inhibition with DU-176b: Phase-I study of an oral, direct factor Xa inhibitor using an ex-vivo flow chamber. Thromb Haemost 2007;98:883–8.
- [65] Furugohri T, Isobe K, Honda Y, Kamisato-Matsumoto C, Sugiyama N, Nagahara T, et al. DU-176b, a potent and orally active factor Xa inhibitor: in vitro and in vivo pharmacological profiles. J Thromb Haemost 2008;6:1542–9.
- [66] Ogata K, Mendell-Harary J, Tachibana M, Matsumoto H, Oguma T, Kojima M, et al. Clinical safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of the novel Factor Xa inhibitor edoxaban in healthy volunteers. J Clin Pharmacol 2010;50:743–53.
- [67] Fuji T, Fujita S, Tachibana S, Kawai Y. Randomized, double-blind, multi-dose efficacy, safety and biomarker study of the oral Factor Xa inhibitor DU-176b compared with placebo for prevention of venous thromboembolism in patients after total knee arthroplasty. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2008;112:34.
- [68] Raskob G, Cohen A, Eriksson B, Macdonald A, Puskas D, Shi M, et al. Randomized double-blind multi-dose trial of the oral factor-Xa inhibitor DU-176b versus LMW Heparin (Dalteparin) for prevention of venous thromboembolism after total hip replacement. Eur Heart J 2008;29(Suppl 1):602:P3712.
- [69] Weitz JI, Connolly SJ, Kunitada S, Jin J, Patel I. Randomized, parallel group, multicenter, multinational study evaluating safety of DU-176b compared with warfarin in subjects with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2008;112:33.
- [70] Turpie AGG, Bauer KA, Davidson BL, Fisher WD, Gent M, Huo MH, et al. A randomized evaluation of betrixaban, an oral factor Xa inhibitor, for prevention of thromboembolic events after total knee replacement (EXPERT). Thromb Haemost 2009;101:68–76.
- [71] Eriksson BI, Turpie AGG, Lassen M, Prins MH, Agnelli G, Kälebo P, et al. Once daily YM150, an oral direct Factor Xa inhibitor, for prevention of venous thromboembolism in patients undergoing elective primary hip replacement. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2007;112:309.
- [72] Gruber A, Marzec UM, Buetehorn U, Hanson S, Perzborn E. Potential of activated prothrombin complex concentrate and activated Factor VII to reverse the anticoagulant effects of rivaroxaban in primates. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2008;112:3825.
- [73] Perzborn E, Tinel H. FEIBA reverses the effects of a high dose of rivaroxaban in rats. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 2008;36:A40:P061.
- [74] Lu G, DeGuzman FR, Lakhotia S, Hollenbach SJ, Phillips DR, Sinha U. Recombinant antidote for reversal of anticoagulation by Factor Xa inhibitors. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2008;112:983.
- [75] Eriksson BI, Smith H, Yasothan U, Kirkpatrick P. Dabigatran etexilate. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2008;7:557–8.
- [76] Hauel NH, Nar H, Priepke H, Ries U, Stassen JM, Wienen W. Structure-based design of novel potent nonpeptide thrombin inhibitors. J Med Chem 2002;45: 1757–66.
- [77] Stangier J, Rathgen K, Stahle H, Gansser D, Roth W. The pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and tolerability of dabigatran etexilate, a new oral direct thrombin inhibitor, in healthy male subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2007;64:292–303.
- [78] Blech S, Ebner T, Ludwig-Schwellinger E, Stangier J, Roth W. The metabolism and disposition of the oral direct thrombin inhibitor, dabigatran, in humans. Drug Metab Dispos 2008;36:386–99.
- [79] Stangier J, Stähle H, Rathgen K, Fuhr R. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the direct oral thrombin inhibitor dabigatran in healthy elderly subjects. Clin Pharmacokinet 2008;47:47–59.
- [80] Stangier J. Clinical pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of the oral direct thrombin inhibitor dabigatran etexilate. Clin Pharmacokinet 2008;47:285–95.
- [81] Boehringer Ingelheim. Pradaxa<sup>®</sup> Summary of Product Characteristics. Available at:http://www.pradaxa.com/Include/media/pdf/Pradaxa\_SPC\_EMEA.pdf. 2008.
- [82] Eriksson BI, Dahl OE, Rosencher N, Kurth AA, van Dijk CN, Frostick SP, et al. Dabigatran etexilate versus enoxaparin for prevention of venous thromboembolism after total hip replacement: a randomised, double-blind, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2007;370:949–56.
- [83] Eriksson BI, Dahl OE, Rosencher N, Kurth AA, van Dijk CN, Frostick SP, et al. Oral dabigatran etexilate vs. subcutaneous enoxaparin for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after total knee replacement: the RE-MODEL randomized trial. J Thromb Haemost 2007;5:2178–85.
- [84] The RE-MOBILIZE Writing Committee. The oral thrombin inhibitor dabigatran etexilate vs the North American enoxaparin regimen for the prevention of venous thromboembolism after knee arthroplasty surgery. J Arthroplasty 2009;24:1–9.
- [85] Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2009;361:1139–51.
- [86] Schulman S, Kearon C, Kakkar AK, Mismetti P, Schellong S, Eriksson H, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2342–52.

- [87] Rezaie AR. Prothrombin protects factor Xa in the prothrombinase complex from inhibition by the heparin-antithrombin complex. Blood 2001;97:2308–13.
- [88] Brufatto N, Ward A, Nesheim ME. Factor Xa is highly protected from antithrombin-fondaparinux and antithrombin-enoxaparin when incorporated into the prothrombinase complex. J Thromb Haemost 2003;1:1258–63.
- [89] Orfeo T, Butenas S, Brummel-Ziedins KE, Gissel M, Mann KG. Anticoagulation by factor Xa inhibitors. J Thromb Haemost 2010;8:1745–53.
- [90] Jiang X, Crain EJ, Luettgen JM, Schumacher WA, Wong PC. Apixaban, an oral direct factor Xa inhibitor, inhibits human clot-bound factor Xa activity in vitro. Thromb Haemost 2009;101:780–2.
- [91] Eisenberg PR, Sobel BE, Jaffe AS. Activation of prothrombin accompanying thrombolysis with recombinant tissue-type plasminogen activator. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;19:1065–9.
- [92] Eisenberg PR, Siegel JE, Abendschein DR, Miletich JP. Importance of factor Xa in determining the procoagulant activity of whole-blood clots. J Clin Invest 1993;91:1877–83.
- [93] Prager NA, Abendschein DR, McKenzie CR, Eisenberg PR. Role of thrombin compared with factor Xa in the procoagulant activity of whole blood clots. Circulation 1995;92:962–7.
- [94] Laurent M, Varin R, Joimel U, Li H, Lu H, Blot E, et al. A novel mechanism of action of rivaroxaban: inhibition of monocyte and macrophage procoagulant activity and consequence on inflammatory process. Blood (ASH Annual Meeting Abstracts) 2009;114:3124.
- [95] Weitz JI. Factor Xa or thrombin: is thrombin a better target? J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(Suppl 1):65–7.

- [96] Ansell J. Factor Xa or thrombin: is factor Xa a better target? J Thromb Haemost 2007;5(Suppl 1):60-4.
- [97] Brummel KE, Paradis SG, Butenas S, Mann KG. Thrombin functions during tissue factor-induced blood coagulation. Blood 2002;100:148–52.
- [98] Friedman RJ, Gallus AS, Cushner FD, Fitzgerald G, Anderson Jr FA, Global Orthopaedic Registry Investigators. Physician compliance with guidelines for deep-vein thrombosis prevention in total hip and knee arthroplasty. Curr Med Res Opin 2008;24:87–97.
- [99] Mismetti P, Laporte S. New oral antithrombotics: a need for laboratory monitoring. J Thromb Haemost 2010;8:621–6.
- [100] Weitz JI. New oral anticoagulants in development. Thromb Haemost 2010;103:62–70.
  [101] Haas S. Facts and artefacts of coagulation assays for Factor Xa inhibitors. Thromb Haemost 2010;103:686–8.
- [102] Walenga JM, Hoppensteadt DA. Monitoring the new antithrombotic drugs. Semin Thromb Hemost 2004;30:683–95.
- [103] Samama MM, Le Flem L, Guinet C, Perzborn E, Amiral J, Depasse F. Suitability of chromogenic anti-FXa methods to measure rivaroxaban in human plasma. J Thromb Haemost 2009;7(Suppl):693:PP-WE-199.
- [104] Perzborn E, Harwardt M, Samama M. Assessment of Factor Xa chromogenic assays for measuring the pharmacodynamics of rivaroxaban - an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. J Thromb Haemost 2009;7(Suppl 2):379:PP-MO-185.
- [105] Samama MM, Amiral J, Celine G, Perzborn E, Depasse F. A new and specific rapid chromogenic "anti-Xa" assay for testing rivaroxaban in plasma. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 2010;37(Suppl 1):A49.